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SCENE

avy doctorsreport from the field in Viet-
nam that too much milk can resultin a bad
case of the Gl's, particularly if the troops
have not had any milk for a while. Troops
coming off patrol are so thirsty for fresh.
whole cow juice, ice cream, and shakes
that they literally drink themselves sick on
it because their bodies just can't absorb all
the extra lactose. Hardened top-kicks are
starting to urge their younger guys to stick

- to beer.

R

Anew British book is on its way to read-
ers, Titled "Flushed With Pride.” it's the bi-
ography of that lavatory laureate, Sir
Thomas Crapper. who in the 1850's in-
vented the pull-and-let-go Lavatory system
still in use today. Crapper was the unoffi-
cial royal plumber to four European
monarchs, built a modern-type john for

- Queen Victoria, and died after climbing

dutifully from his sick bed to mend a faulty
toilet. Yes, that's where That Word comes
from.

‘W\Jarning to mashers: girls are taking up
. judo in increasing numbers these days.
Says one female instructor, "The nice
. thing about judo is that it co-ordinates the
whole body and doesn’t build one set of
muscles as against another. Girls find their
complexions improving after judo. Posture,
too. The ones who are underweight put a
few pounds on; those who are overweight
take it off. If you have the right weight, but
. in wrong places, judo jiggles it around.”
says one judo student, "'You should see
how surprised everyone is when | flip my

' date over my shoulder after a couple of

drinks at the bar.” Another student adds,

"~ "Someone jumped me in the park in broad

" daylight, and 1 decided | had better do
something if | wanted to go on living in this
crazy age. Judo taught me to walk through
the park with confidence. If anybody catch-
es me now, it's his own fault.”

Warren Smith with Renfro T.

Sensational evidence that
James Barl Ray did not kill
Rev. Martin Luther King!

Hays
Saga, Oct 69

European university officials are dis-
tressed to find that many of the college
student revolts abroad are being led by ex-
patriate Americans. In Britain alone, sev-
eral hundred of the 20,000 American stu-
dents enrolled there are active revolution-
aries. "We did it at Berkeley! We did it at
Columbia! We can do it here!” shouted a
speaker at a London University rally
recently. Says one U.S. student revolution-
ary. Sean Gervasi, “As Britain becomes
more and more an economic colony of the
United States many of the American prob-
lems are being exported, too. This includes
Student Power."" Authorities are con-
templating stopping known American stu-
dent revolutionaries at points of entry rath-
er than putting up with their campus an-
tics.

T

U s. Army Col. Burton C. Andrus has just
timished a book on his experiénces as the
jailer for the Nazi war criminals after W.W.
iI. Called The Infamous of Nuremberg, one of
its most interesting anecdotes concerns a
possible attempt to kill Goering in jail. Ger-
man prisoners were housed near the wing
where the Nazis were held. One day. an
American sentry was escorting the former
Luftwaffe general when suddenly, from
high up on the wall came a swishing sound
and a thud. A heavy. 8 inch, 5.S. combat
knife buried itself in the -wooden walk
alongside Goering. The guard grabbed his
45 automatic and looked around but saw
no one. To this day Colonel Andrus doesn’t
know if the knife was meant to kill Goering.
or to kill the guard so that Goering might
escape. The knife thrower was never

~ found.

% paceships of the future won't look like
those which we have been sending men
in to the moon. The experts are working on
a new series of space craft which would be
re-usable, instead of burning up
re-entering the atmosphere the way to-
day's Apollos do. Says Lockheed's R. R.
Kearton, "Tomorrow's space craft should
land like a scheduled airliner, with com-
parable ground support. . . Two menin a
cockpit can check out an airliner for flight.
We should be able to use nearly assimple a
technique to check out a space craft.”
Lockheed says the new space ships will be
Delta-shaped, launched vertically, will drop
their fuel tanks on their way into orbit, per-
form the mission and return to earth hori-
zontally as easily as planes do.

Hod o

Gradualty. the sad truth about our
over-killed and over-exploited wildlife is
being realized and world-wide organiza-
tions like the International Union for Con-
servation of Nature and Natural Resources
are vigorously lobbying against hunting
and fishing interests. They are striving to
save animals like the blue whale, the Cali-
fornia condor and the whooping crane, all
in danger of extinction by hunters and pre-
dators, by natural causes, and by man's in-
vasion and destruction of their natural
habitats. Even fish are in danger and Earl
Mountbatten recently warned that the At
lantic salmon, "faces extinction long be-
fore the end of this century unless some-
thing very drasticis done.”

* THE END
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SENSATIONAL = g ey
_ E probing, digging ou

EV@;E NCE T new leads, running

THAT o _ . T - down rumors, and in-

J A M ES S j terrogating dozens of
N %8 vitally interested parties,

SAGA'S ace crime-re-

EAR L . porter, Warren Smith,

and private investigator, |
Renfro T. Hays, have

uncovered eyewitnesses

and documentation that
the confessed assassin
' . now serving a 99-year
. _ 9 prison sentence never
' | fired the shot that
' _ . e killed America’s great-

est Negro leader!

NILL. <

REV.
MARTIN

LUTHER
KING!

By Warren Smith with Renfro T. Hays

Copyright © 1969 by Warren Smith







THE T!METﬁBLE nccnnams TOTHE MHHDRIT!ES
April 4, 1969

- 315 P A man who called hr}m_s__grf 'f*_]g'hn'w;&r_d»:__»_. 5

Wert up a derk stairway to the second floor lobby of ¥
a roominghotse at 422 — South Main St Memphis,
Tenn. He asked the landlady, Mrs. Bessie Br&wer-'_ for
2 room. She affered him a kitchenette Iookmg ou ver:
Main Street, “[ just need a sleeping room,” the m
said. Mrs: Brewer led her giest 10 another area of the
building Where permanent guests lived, The rman, dres
ed in 2 black sult andiwhite shirt, paid $8.50 rent for

oo Number s, By laakmg out the window at an angle.
‘the roomer coutd See the second: ﬂoor balcony of the-_.
Lorraine Motel,

5:30 p.m. Dr. King was tammg with his st,aff and Sey- et by

eral newsmen In his room, Number 306, at the LOrra:

Motel. Despite the 306 number, the room is on the
_top (2ndi floor of the motel. Those in the room includ-
" ed Rev, Andrew Yourg, executive vice president of
King's Scuthem Christian L@a,clersh p Conference; Rey,

James Bevel, a close friend and aide to Dr. King and

Rev. Jesse Jackson. Josenh. Louw, with the Public =

Broadcasting Laboratory, was filming a documentary | !

on Dr. King.

6:01 p.m. Dr. King stepped out on the concrete baleony.
He talked 1o his chauffeur. Solomon Jones, Jr, and |
singer'Ben’ Branch, who were on the motel parklng fot
- pbelow the balcony.

A shot blasted out. Dr. King crumpled fo the baicony
floor. “Oh,” he said, “Oh.”

At the ‘rooming house, Charles Stephens heard the
shot. He said it came from the bathrootn. Stephens
said fe saw'the man as he walked down the stairway.
He carried a long ohiect qu-bped in-a Newspaper.

“The killer” then dropped the wrapped rifle and 2

small traveling bag In the doorway of the Campe A—'
musement. Company !

At the same time, sguatis of law enforcement officers
converged on the Lorraine Motel. - . j
6:04 p.m. A deputy shariff took possession of ’rhe
wrapped rifle and the travel bag in the doorway..

An ambulence was dispatched to the motel.

- 6:15 p.m. Dr. King was wheeled into the emergency-'
room at St. Joseph's Hospital,
6:25 p.m. A white Mustang automobile was reported

by the police radio ag fleeing north. “at o 'high rate of :

speed.” UJames Earl Ray was driving a white Mustang .
‘The fastest escape rcmfe from Mamphm and Tennessee
was seuth). :

6:27 p.m. Another police radio reaort put the e a

Mustang at 2 dafferen‘s Iucation, gomg 1n another direc-

~tion:

6:31 p.m. One of Dr King's aldes came out of the oper-
ating room. “He is dead,” the man sobbed. !
6:35 p.m. Another police radio report on the fleeing

white Mustang said the car was being chased by policg | - '

cruisér No. 421. Then, police cruiser No. 160 was
stopped by a Memphis motorist, who said he was re- .
celving a strange Citizen's Band broadcast over the
CB unit in his car. The broadeast cancerned a bullet-
punctuated chase of a white Mustang by a 1966 blue

Pontiac. The officers in Cruiser 160 broadcast their = |
version of the CB report to police headguarters, The " |

information was then re-broadcast by the police dis-
patcher to patrol cars:The CB broadeast (‘faked ‘oy a
Memphis high school student™ ended abrurﬁly .
7:05 p.m. An announcement was made of Dr. King's
death, The National Guard prepared move. mto-fhe
city. The police did ot ‘_@_adé:a ' 5
fetin for the flesing wh'te Mubtang







SAGA has uncovered the
fact that Grace E. Stephens,
who lived in the apartment
next to the bathroom, was
the best eyewitness as the
alleged killer left the bath-
room, and her description
does not match that of
James Earl Ray!

AR a.
James Earl Ray-patsy?
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apartment during the afternoon. The door to their cheap apartment
was open; it was a custom among the roomers in the dilapidated flop-
house to leave their doors open. Grace Stephens watched people come
and go in the hallway. The bathroom was located next to her apartment
and, sometimes, people stopped to talk, or share a drink with her.

At 6:01 p.m.,, the evening stillness was shattered by the roaring blast
of a high-powered rifle. A bullet sped at 2,600 feet per second toward
its target. The slug smashed into the right jaw of Dr. Martin Luther
King, Jr., slashed his spinal cord and slammed his body to the balcony
floor of the Lorraine Motel.

The noise of the explosion was still echoing in the arcade outside her
window, when Grace Stephens saw a man leave the bathroom. “I'll nev-
er forget him,” she would later tell Renfro Hays. “Seeing that man has
changed my life and caused me to be locked up in a mental hospital.”

Grace Stephens is the only person who got a good look at (and gave
a description of) the man who fled from the bathroom. She should have
been a vital witness in solving the case: Yet, only a brief time after fu-
gitive James Earl Ray was arrested in London, and returned to Mem-
phis, Mrs. Stephens disappeared from her flophouse rooms. She vanish-
ed from her skid row haunts!

Iin one of the most startling aspects of the King case, she was com-
mitted to a Tennessee mental hospital at Bolivar, Tenn..under circum-
stances that are unusual and suspicious. Newsmen have been unable
to locate Grace Stephens and, until now, her story has not been told.
Although she was an important eyewitness, she was ignored by the
prosecution and not named in the list of potential witnesses.

Why? '

Grace Stephens’ description of the man who fled from the bathroom
does not match that of James Earl Ray!

Here is her witnessed and signed statement of the events of April 4,
1968. This statement was obtained by Renfro T. Hays, after he discover-

Killer allegedly shot from window (framed by dotted lines). Closeup shows where pok’c_e claim he stood.




ed Grace Stephens was a frightened patient at Western Tennessee  SAGA has uncovered the
State Mental Hospital, Bolivar, Tenn. The statement was obtained on fact that shorﬂy after

| Nov. 5, 1968 and has never appeared in print or been made public until Rav’

| now. It reads: ay's capture, Grocg ki

“My name is Grace Hays Walden and at this time | am a patient in a Stephens was committed
hospital. | was living at 422% South Main Street, Memphis, Tennessee, 10 a Tennessee mental
on 4 April 1968. | was living in the apartment next to the bathroom at hospital under unusual and
that address. | was ill at that time in body. During that afternoon, be- suspicious circumstances!

. fore 6 o'clock, | heard the man in the room next to me go to the bath-. )
room several times and try to get in, but evidently its door was locked.

“At about 6 o'clock | heard a shot. | cannot tell where the shot came
from. | know it echoed in the arcade beside my window. At this time,
Charles Stephens was in the kitchen fixing a radio. Right after the shot
a man left the bathroom and went down the hall and down the steps to
Main Street. | saw this man as he passed the door of my room.

“My best guess of this man's age was in his 50’s. This man was not
as tall as | am. He was small bone built. He had on an army colored hunt-
| ing jacket, unfastened, and dark pants. He had on a plaid sports. shirt.
| His hair was salt and pepper color and he carried something long in his
| right hand but | cannot swear what it was. Charlie was still in the kitch-
| en then but he got to our door by the time the man had gotten to the
| head of the stairs. Charles Stephens went out in the hall and looked
down the hall. In about two minutes Charlie came back into the room.
- We heard screaming at the motel but it was quite some time before any-
| one came up to our room.

“A newspaper reporter came up to our room before the police came.
Around 10 p.m., the police came and we went down to police headquar-
| ters. | believe | gave a statement to Inspector Zachery. This statement
' was more than one page. Charles Stephens had not had much to drink
| that day. He was drinking dark port wine. Within two or three days after
this, a London newspaper man gave Charlie some money for his story.

| Eyewitness Grace Stephens was mysteriously committed to mental hospital immediately following Ray’s arrest.
. DMH—276 COMMITMENT PROCEEDINGS
TENNESSEE STATE PSYCHIATRIC HOSPITALS
DEPARTMENT OF MENTAL HEALTH

(1) ;
The parent, guardian, spouse, or a responsible adult relative, or any licensed physician, health or public welfare officer,
or the head of any institution in which the individual may be, or any officer authorized to make arrests in Tennessee, may
file a petition with the Judge or Chairman of the County Court of the county in which an individual resides or may be found,

in writing, substantially as follows: aka Grace E. Stephen
The undersigned hereby states that....... Grace E. Walden, 336 Washington Apt 3
is mentally ill, not mentally retarded; that........... Grace..E..Walde B g mowsscacw G ST R S S

*(is an indigent person) s(has the ability—te-pay—er—= TespomsibleTeletive-hasthe-abitity topay) and that..ghg. .is a citizen
of the United States and has been a resident of the State of Tennessee for twelve (12) months or more and has been a
resident of said county for sixty (60) days or more. :

Sworn to and subscribed before me,

This..29“...day/?...-1'ul'y ................ = L

...................................

" Probate Court
*Strike out inapplicable alternative.
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SAGA has uncovered two eyewitnesses
to support the claim that there was a
gunman in the bushes behind the
rooming house!

[LORRAINE HOTEL—'

' V4 ya
' ~ BUTLER

View from doorway of Dr. Martin Luther King’s
motel room (top) with arrow indicating sniper’s
supposed vantage point in skid row flophouse. Map
shows key locations in murder area; dotted line
represents path of bullet.
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He gave him more than one bill. Someone else gave
him a single bill. | have read this statement of one and
two-thirds pages and it is true to the best of my know-
ledge and belief. | have not been promised any reward
or threatened in any way.” -

Signed: Grace Hays Stephens

Witness: signed: Dorothy S. Tanwich,

Nursing supervisor

Grace Stephens is a small woman and she estimat-
ed the man who left the bathroom was not as tall as
\her. James Earl Ray is five feet, 10 inches in height.
Grace Stephens estimated the manh was in his 50's.
James Earl Ray is 40. Ray was wearing a dark suit, a
narrow black tie and a white shirt that day. Grace
Stephens saw a man clad in an army (or olive drab)
hunting jacket, dark pants and a plaid sports shirt.
‘James Earl Ray is dark haired. Mrs. Stephens dis-
tinctly remembered the salt and pepper color of the
fleeing man’s hair.

It is apparent that Grace E. Stephens did not see
James Earl Ray leave the bathroom immediately af-
ter the shooting. She identified someone other than
Ray and she is now committed to a mental institution.

Grace Stephens was committed to the mental hos-
pital under the name of “Grace Hays Walden.” Her
commitment papers are on file at the office_of the
Probate Court Clerk in the Shelby County, Tennessee
courthouse in downtown Memphis.

Her commitment file is number 12808 |.D. Her san-
ity hearing was held at 11:30 a.m. on July 31, 1968,
in the probate courtroom at the Shelby County court-
house. The petition for her commitment is signed
by a “John A. . .. ". The last name is an illegible
scrawl. The employees in the probate clerk’s office,
and other Shelby County officers, could not translate
the scribbled signature.

“It could be anyone,” | was informed.

Tennessee's mental health laws are written to pro-
vide quick confinement of an individual who has been
accused of mental illness. A petition is filed with the
judge or chairman of the county court in which the
person resides. The petition asks for a sanity hearing.
According to the present Tennessee law, these pe-
titions can be filed by “...The parent, guardian,
spouse or a responsible adult relative, or any licensed
physician, health or public welfare officer, or the head
of any institution in which the individual may be, or
any officer authorized to make arrests in Tennessee.”

Many attorneys in Tennessee believe this is a dan-
gerous law. ‘It empowers too many people to ask for
a sanity hearing,” an attorney stated. “A two-bit, jack-
leg justice of the peace, magistrate, can pull a citi-
zen in on a sanity hearing. The part reading ‘the head



Rifle was found in door-
way of Canipe Amusement
Co., wrapped in green
bedspread. Police say it fu)

was murder weapon, but , =
« SAGA’S evidence indicates §Adkg
it was planted minutes be- —
fore killing.

~of any institution where the individual may be is ex-

tremely dangerous. A jail, a hospital, or even a col-
lege is an institution. Conceivably, a college president
could sign a petition asking for a sanity hearing for
dissident students.”

When a petition is filed, the individual may be plac-
ed in a psychiatric clinic for observation or confined
in jail until the date of the hearing. “You will discover

~ a person’s rights as a citizen are removed without

due process of the law,” the attorney continued. “The

. patients in a Tennessee state psychiatric hospital do
- not have the rights given to a prisoner in jail.”
Frequently, a sanity hearing is a very informal pro- °

cess. “You can be tested against your will atthe psy-

| chiatric clinic, and then those test results can be used

against you at the hearing,” the attorney declared.
“To be committed, your papers must be signed by
two licensed physicians. These men are not required
to be psychiatrists. They could be surgeons, or an eye,
ear, nose and throat man. I've known cases where
the doctors never examined the patient but relied on

_the psychiatric reports, or statements from relatives.”

Two medical doctors signed the additional papers
that are required by law to send Grace Stephens to
Western Tennessee State Mental Hospital at Bolivar,
Tenn.

A Dr. D.G. Moore diagnosed that her iliness was of
“years” duration, although the physician has not
known Grace Stephens for that time, according to
her. Dr. Moore said her medical treatment had been
“hospitalization for over three weeks,” which meant
that Grace Stephens was possibly kept in a psychia-
tric clinic in Memphis for more than three weeks prior

- to her hearing.

"Dr. S.D. Vick diagnosad that Mrs. Stephens suffer-

. ed from “chronic brain syndrome,” which is a term

that means nothing to laymen or psychiatrists. Dr.

Vick said that (Continued on page 70)

SAGA has uncovered two eyewitnesses
who claim Ray’s rifle was laid in the

street several minutes before Dr. King
was shot!
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EVIDENCE THAT JAMES EARL RAY DID NOT KILL REV. KING!

(Continued from page 21)

Grace Stephens was “hallucinatory—see
husband in ceiling—thought he was to
shoot her” (although these last words
could be “shout hear”). Dr. Vick's hand-
writing on the commitment papers is al-
most as confusing as his use of unknown
psychiatric terms.

And if she did say something about
fearing her husband, did that justify cor-
mitting her?

The fact that Charles Stephens, her
common-law husband, was once involved
in a shooting scrape, and has been known
to attack Mrs. Gracie Stephens, or his
girl friends, was not mentioned in the
commitment papers.

In Tennessee, and most other states, an
indigent person committed to a mental
institution is given a court appointed at-
torney or guardian. At the probate court
hearing, Grace Stephens was given guard-
ian ad litem and counseling by attorney
C. Cleveland Drennon, Jr., a former
Memphis attorney-general. Drennon now
has a private practice and also is a friend
to the Shelby County Atitorney-
General. There are approximately
1,000 practicing attorneys in Shelby
County and Grace Stephens wonders why
a lawyer closely linked to the prosecution
was selected for her court-appointed
counsel.

In order to discover whether she might
have been mentally ill, Renfro Hays
checked other sources of information. In
November 1968, and on two occasions in
1969, an attempt was made to obtain a re-
port on the nature of her illness. She was
taken to Tennessee Psychiatric Clinic,
Memphis, shortly after James Earl Ray
was captured. Testing, evaluation and
diagnosing of potential mental patients is

" performed at the clinic.

Under ordinary circumstances, the
patlent s file remams at the clinic. A sy-
nopsis the report is then forwarded to the

mental hospital. Contact was made with

a psychiatrist employed by the Tennessee
Mental Health Depariment.

“Look at her file and determine wheth-
er she needs hospitalization,” was the
request.

The psychiatrist reported: “This is the
first time this has ever happened but
there are no records on that woman.
Someone has pulled her file.”

This information was later verified
through another source. The situation re-
mains at that point as this article goes to
press.

HOW GRACE STEPHENS WAS AC-
TUALLY FOUND

“] heard there had been a woman in
the room with Charlie Stephens,” Renfro
Hays explained. “Everyone had ignored
her and I wondered why. She had just
vanished into thin air by the time I got on
the case. Someone finally got a letter
from her, postmarked from Western State
Mental hospital. I went through the files
at the probate court clerk’s office, finally
found she was listed as Grace Hays Wal-
den, also known as Grace E. Stephens.

T went over to Bolivar and talked with
Mrs. Stephens,” he continued. “A nurse
was present throughout the inter-

70 O SAGA

rogation.”

According to Renfro Hays, the fact
that Grace Stephens was committed to
the mental hospital under a generally un-
known name (possibly a legal name) sup-
ported the idea that the insanity lock-up
was designed to prevent her existence and
whereabouts from being discovered by
James Earl Ray’s defense attorneys.
Thus, Renfro Hays sought to learn from
Grace Stephens who was responsible: for
her using the name '“Walden.” She told
him: “‘I am desperate to get out of here. I
came under the name of Grace Hays Wal-
den because they said there were so many
colored people incarcerated here and you
never know who was a King admirer.”

The warning had come to her from
those seeking to commit her; she had been
frightened into changing her name.

Incensed, she demanded: “What kind
of justice is being dispensed in this coun-
trv when a witness in the King case is
locked up in a' mental hospital?”

Was Grace Stephens sent to a mental
institution because her testimony would
demolish the prosecution's case against
James Earl Ray? The fact is that she was
a vital witness. Her statement refutes the
story of her husband, Charles Step-
hens—the state’s key witness. Further-
more, she was locked up shortly after
Ray’s arrest under suspicious circum-
‘stances and until this magazine article,
has never had an opportunity to present
her story to the public.

This is just a portion of the new evi-
dence we have developed on the assassi-
nation of Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr.

Let us go back now to Monday, March
10, 1969, to the Shelby County courtroom
that was crowded with reporters as James
Earl Ray and his attorney, Percy Fore-
man, entered a plea of guilty to murder in
the first degree. Defense attorney Fore-
man, the prosecution and crusty Judge
W. Preston Battle had privately agreed to
a 99-year sentence in return for a plea of
guilty. .

On the surface, the plea was usual and
proper. Much fuss was made in the court-
room about James Earl Ray being treated
as an ‘“‘ordinary prisoner.” However, it
was no ordinary case. Ray had not been
held in jail as an ordinary prisoner and
the American public was waiting for the
answers to many nagging questions about
the assassination.

Since attention had first focused on the
escaped convict as the possible assassin,
there has been considerable publicity giv-
en to his movements prior to and after
April 4, 1968. We know that James Earl
Ray mailed in a coupon to a photo mail
order company and endless other bits of
trivial information. However, we know
very little about his movements and ac-
tions between four and seven p.m. on the
day that Dr. King was assassinated.

The prosecution could prove that
James Earl Ray purchased a rifle in Bir-
mingham, Ala. on March 29, 1968. They
could also prove that this same rifle was
found on the street in front of the room-
ing house only minutes after the shoot-
ing. The prosecution might have found it

extremely difficult to prove that the bul-
let taken from Dr. King’s body was fired
from the rifle purchased by Ray.

-There is little doubt that James Earl |

Ray drove to Memphis, purchased a pair
of binoculars and rented a room at the
flophouse at 422-%2 South Main Street.
With the testimony of the state's key wit-
ness, Charles Stephens, the prosecution
would try to prove that James Earl Ray
fired the shot and fled from the bath-
room. We shall see how strong Mr. Step-
hen’s statements really are under exam-
ination.

Ray allegedly fired the shot, walked
from the bathroom, through a dim hall
and down a stairway to the street. Then,
unexplainably, he deposited the rifle in
the doorway of the Canipe Amusement
Co. He also dropped a small travelling
bag containing various articles with his
fingerprints.

Shortly after the assassination, the
Memphis police radio network was pene-
trated with fake reports of a fleeing white
Mustang (later found to be Ray's vehicle)
at various locations in north Memphis.
Then another fake Civilian Band broad-
cast was received by the Memphis police
network and this drew more police to
north Memphis. Naturally, the best es-
cape route from the city, and state, was
south.

The radio broadcast was a “prank by a

high school student,” according to the . |

Memphis police; it was a “‘coincidence”
that a high school student “knew’ the
killer was fleeing in a white Mustang, and
more of a coincidence that just such a car
later turned out to belong to James Earl
Ray.

Coincidence?

“That is just too much to be a coinci-
dence!”” declares Hayes. Obviously the
police had been set up and fallen for it!

““The most important witness"’
Charles Quitman Stephens, who lived in
apartment number 6 with Grace Step-
hens, claims to have seen James Earl Ray
emerge from the bathroom immediately
after the shot was fired. “I was in my
kitchen working on my radio,”” Stephens
told newsmen. *“When that gun exploded
it sounded like a German 88.” Stephens
knows the sounds of the big Nazi guns; he
was injured in France during W.W. II,
has a metal plate in his skull and draws a
$113-a-month veteran's disability pen-
sion.

“] went to the door and walked out into
the hallway. I could see a man at the off-
set in the hall,” Stephens continued. ““He
had something in his hand wrapped in a
newspaper.”’

Charles Stephens has been called a “‘re-
tired heavy construction operator'" in
various newspaper stories. Clay Blair, Jr.,
the author of The Strange Case of James
Earl Ray (Bantam Paperbacks) charac-
terized Stephens as “‘a heavy equipment
operator forced into retirement by tu-
berculosis. . ."" In reality, he is an alco-
holic, a habitue of skid row, and in the
jargon of Main Street, has a “drinking
problem.” Stephens is also known as a
“mean drinker.” He was involved in a
shooting incident in 1964 and sentenced
to the Shelby County penal farm for six
months. He has beaten up Grace Step-

{Continued on page 72)

Lno contlnuatlon of this

sentence )




(Continued from page 70)

The hallway was lit by a bare 25-watt
bulb. There is an offset in the hall be-
tween Stephens’ room and the stairwell.
A sober individual with excellent eyesight
might experience difficulty in dis-
tinguishing a man down the length of the
dark hallway. .

Charles Stephens had been drinking
heavily that afternoon and was probably
drunk. In her statement, Grace Stephens
said he “had not drunk much'" and “‘was
drinking dark port wine.” As she was ac-
customed to her husband’s drinking
habits, we sought other witnesses for a re-
port on Stephen’s condition.

Lloyd Jowers is the proprietor of Jim’s
Grille, located directly below the rooming
| house. Jowers remembers the events of
April 4, 1968 quite well. “Charlie was in
here between four and five o’clock. He
had been arguing with his landlord,” Jo-
wers said. “I remember it because Charlie

was drunk. When I heard the shot, I -

thought Charlie might have shot his
landlord.”

“Drunk” is a term that needs precise
definition. I asked Jowers for a more de-
tailed description.

“Drunk is drunk with Charlie,” he re-
plied. “He was in his usual intoxicated
condition. He stumbled once while he was
in here and fell against one of the stools.”

After he left the cafe, Charles Stephens
telephoned the Veteran’s Cab Company
for a taxi. Cab driver James “Quick
Draw” McGraw arrived at the rooming
house at 422- 1 'Main Street and went
upstairs for his fare.

In a statement to Renfro T. Hays,
McGraw reported: “Charlie was pretty
drunk. He was down on the kitchen floor
trying to fix his radio. He was in no con-
dition to go anywhere. I know Charlie
and I suggested that he stay home and
sleep it off. I went back down to my cab,
reported a ‘no fare' to the dispatcher and
left.”

McGraw estimates he was at the roo-
minghouse between “5:30 p.m. and 5:45
p-m., give or take a few minutes."” During
their investigation of the assassination,
agents for the FBI took the cab driver's
trip sheet from the cab company files.
The trip sheet was never returned.

On the morning after the shooting,
Charles Stephens was interviewed by two
newspaper reporters, a photographer and
a radio news broadcaster. They asked for
his description of the fleeing gunman.

“Hell, I didn't see anything,"” Stephens
reportedly said. ““I didn’t know what hap-
pened until the police came upstairs last
night and took us to the station.”

After Stephens was paid by the London
newsman for his story, his statements
were headlined in a London newspaper.
The story was clipped by an FBI agent in
London and forwarded to Washington,
D.C. In turn, the information was fed
back to the General Assignment division
of the Memphis police department and a
pick-up order was issued for Stephens. At
that time, Inspector Z. A. Zachery and
his investigators on the King slaying were
apparently not aware that Stephens was
considered an important witness,

Court Square, in downtown Memphis,
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is a tree-shaded city park where the hus-

tlers, winos, alkys, pensionsers and people

with time to spare, gather to discuss the
state of the world, play checkers, or col-
lect enough money for another bottle.
Charles Stephens was apprehended in
Court Square by a park policeman.

The patrolman telephoned an in-
vestigator on ‘the King squad. “T've got
Charlie Stephens here. What do you want
me to do with him?"

“We don't want him,” the investigator
said. “He doesn’t know anything.”

“General assignment hag a pick-up or-
der out for him. He’s supposed to be an
important witness,” the patrolman said.

“All right,” growled the investigator,
“bring him in.”

Stephens was promptly put in jail. He
was held on a $10,000 bond as a material
witness in the case and jailers were in-
structed that he was not allowed any vis-
itors. g

When the extradition hearing for
James Earl Ray was held in London,
Stephens was characterized as vitally im-
portant to the case. Barrister David Cal-
cutt, who was representing the United
States, was quoted as saying, “Charles
Stevens is an important witness to the as-
sassination.” (His name was misspelled
in news dispatches and official docu-
ments.) "

At a habeas corpus hearing in Mem-
phis, prosecutor James C. Beasley in-
formed the court that “no other witness
can testify to the same material facts.”
Beasley said Stephens was placed in jail
“to keep him from being disposed of—to
speak plainly.”

This statement by the prosecutor about
potential danger to witnesses prevented
Renfro Hays from developing his in.
vestigation as thoroughly as possible.
*“There are silent people in Memphis who
have information on the assassination,”
Hays said. “They are afraid to be put on
ecord because of their fear of retali-
ation.”

Stephens’ importance as a key witness
did not reach the Memphis - newsrooms
for several months. His name was spelled
as "‘Stevens” for a long time.

After his release following the habeas
corpus hearing, Stephens was placed un-
der a two-man, three shift 24-hour police
guard. An owlish man with horn-rimmed
glasses, Stephens has a long police record
in Memphis. He was involved in the
shooting in 1964 and has been indicted on
other occasions. However, his file at the
Memphis Police Department was pulled
by parties unknown and, at the time of
this writing, no information can be ob-
tained concerning his police record.

Grace Stephens signed a statement
that someone other than James Earl Ray
left the bathroom immediately following
the shooting. Grace was committed to a
mental institution a short time after
James Earl Ray was arrested. On the oth-

er hand, her common-law husband, -

Charles Stephens claimed he could iden.
tify Ray as the assassin who fled from the
bathroom. Charlie also discovered that
his role as a co-operative state’s witness
was a very lucrative opportunity.
Stephens was provided with a charge
account at Jim's Grille, owned byLloyd

Jowers. The prosecutor’s office paid Step-
hen’'s food bill on several occasions, Jo-
wers stated.

Later, the authorities moved Stephens
from his dismal room in the flophouse, A
larger, much nicer apartment was rented
in another section of the city. Rent on the

apartment was paid from a cash slush

fund in the prosecutor's office. *'Charlie
was really living high in those days," said
a friend.

With this new affluence, Stephens be-
came well acquainted with his police
guards. On several occasions, he at-
tempted to use the police cruisers for
transportation to purchase whiskey and
beer from local bootleggers. He enter-
tained his friends from skid row and also
began to discuss the reward offered for
the capture of Dr. King's killer.

Stephens retained an attorney and
filed for the reward monies. His claim to
the reward is presently in the hands of at-
torneys.

Although Stephens was said to be the
only eyewitness who could place James
Earl Ray at the scene of the crime, the
prosecution did not put him on the wit-
ness stand during the brief hearing held
after Ray pleaded guilty,

The rifle in the doorway: According to
the official version, James Earl Ray shot
Dr. King from the bathroom window,
then walked immediately from the bath-
room, through the hallway and down the
stairs onto the street. Then, the fleeing
murderer is said to have done something
utterly ridiculous. He wrapped his rifle in
a green bedspread, according to police re-
ports, and laid the weapon down in the
doorway of the Canipe Amusement Com-
pany. He also dropped his travel bag at
the same time, all with his fingerprints on
the items!

Some authorities claim this was a
boastful killer's way of saying: “I did it.”"

Others believe he may have noticed po-
licemen running toward him, became
frightened, and dropped the weapon.
However, Ray could have taken two or
three more steps and have hidden the
rifle behind a billboard or in a weed-

strewn machinery yard. Safely concealed, -

it would have been hours, even days, be-
fore the police would have discovered the
weapon.

There are many unsatisfactory ex-
planations concerning the rifle. The po-
lice did not release the information that
the rifle was wrapped tightly in a white
sheet, then placed inside the rifle box.
The rifle and the travel kit, or bag, was
then tightly wrapped inside a green bed-
spread.

Dr. King was shot at 6:01. The rifle was
in the' possession of the police within four
minutes. The gunman would have to be
an unusually versatile individual to wrap

. the weapon so securely, walk down the

hall, down the steps and disappear in
three or four minutes. Even more con-
fusing, Charles Stephens claimed the flee-
ing gunman carried “something wrapped
in newspaper,”, yet the rifle was found
wrapped in a sheet plus a green bedspread

only a couple of minutes later.
Could James Earl Ray flee the scene of
an assassination, carrying a rifle, a rifle
(Continued on page 74)
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(Continued from page 72)
box, his travel bag, a whife sheet, and a
bedspread?

Based on the account of two new wit-
nesses (whose names are being withheld
by request), discovered and interrogated
by Renfro T. Hays, the events are
self-explanatory; the question no longer a
question.

The interview with the first witness
was conducted in the presence of veteran
cotirt reporter, Al Chambers, who record-
ed the conversation. This witness stated
that from the Canipe Amusement Com-
pany showroom he, along with two other
people (unidentified) saw the alleged as-
sassin drop the rifle in the doorway of the
store.

Reports Renfro Hays: I was informed
that the rifle was dropped in a doorway
by a man in a dark suit. I asked when the
rifle was dropped This witness was ada-
mant in his answer. He said the rifle was
dropped 10 or 15 minutes before the police
arrived!”

The police picked up the rifle at ap-
proximately 6:04 or 6:05 p.m. Dr. King
was shot at 6:01 p.m. According to this
timetable, the rifle was placed in the
doorway before Dr. King was shot!

“'1 was really shook by that statement.
It meant the rifle was a plant,” Renfro
Hays remarked. I started hunting for
someone else who might have seen the in-
cident, and succeeded in finding a second
witness who says the rifle was there at
least 10 minutes before the police picked
it up.”

Let us call him “John.” John is the
pseudonym of a frightened young Negro,
age 25, who drove to South Main Street
on that evening to pick up his girl friend.
‘‘She works at a place down there,” he in-
formed Renfro Hays. ‘I pick her up and
drive her home. My wife doesn't know I
was messing around with this gal. She
would divorce me in a second. Besides, 1
don’t want anybody gunning me down for
something I just happened to see.

“I was waiting for my girl friend when
I saw a white man in a black suit come
down out of the rooming house. I remem-
bered him because he was dressed in a
suit. He looked a little nicer than anyone
else down in that part of town. He walked
to a white Mustang, opened the trunk
and took out something wrapped in a
green bedspread.

John continued: ““He walked to the Ca-
nipe Amusement Company and laid it
down in the doorway. That was a very
strange thing to do. Anything that isn’t
nailed down will disappear in a minute in
Memphis. After he laid the package in
the doorway, he walked north, crossing
the street. There were some people stand-
ing in front of the fire station. Just then
my girl came up to my car.

e Sharp and GrAVERLSEET “She punched out at 5:50 p.m. on the
Tough Sennl e, time clock,” John continued. “Figure a

° g::ie';'?l?:;e ioughstaimee: I'H AL : ~ | couple of minutes to walk down to the car
' ;E:luggg:d'?‘ra:g: PILOT'S CHRONOGRAPH. G-DIAL SWISS ‘and it was still five or six minutes to six

o'clock. The rifle was already in the door-
way then.”

John claims to have been several blocks
away from the South Main Street area by
*6:00 p.m. “I would have testified at the
trial for Mr. Hays and Mr. Hanes,” he
said. “But when James Earl Ray fired
them and brought in the dude from
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telemeter, tachometer, and a watch in one,
Anti-magnetic, shock-resistant. Sturdy steel
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- Paid. MAIL ORDER MART Dept. ¢ —-1owT
175 W. 9th St., B'’klyn, N. Y. 11231

long service. Money
back in 5 days if not
satisfied. Send $2.75
plus 25¢ to cover post
age and handling.

ALLEY SPORTS MO Biv.
4 ; Dept. 1975T%
35 Wilbur Street, Lynbrook, N. Y. 11563
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tom,” and hate what you are doing
...If you have despaired of ever
being somebody in this tough old
world, and your paychecks aren’t
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how to get out of your rut and
enjoy life again.

A Booming, éilliun-ﬂulhr, Wide-Open
Business, With NO SELLING!

Perhaps you never heard of Accident Inves-
tigatin%. Today, it is a booming, billion-
usiness — the result of millions of
fires, auto and home accidents, hurricanes
and tornados — and the claims that must
be investigated and settled, as the result of
them. The demand for trained investi-
tors far exceeds the supply. In fact, the
emand is so great that many companies
waive even a high school education.
We train you quickly at home in your
spare time through a recommended 15
inutes a Day Reading Program. That
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and transportation companies snatching
up more men as they get their diplomas.
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School is Approved by the Office of
Superintendent of Public Instruction; also
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Car Furnished. Many Fringe Benefits,

No wonder it is possible for many Liberty
School students to start earning, within

weeks, good money while they learn
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Accident Investigating is truly an “elite”
career. The trained staff investigator is in
an enviable position, getting many fringe
benefits like family hospital care, retire-
ment pension plans, generous paid vaca-
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assembly line, or chained to an office
desk in this job!

We Help You Find the
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We provide FREE EMPLOYMENT HELP
through our NATIONWIDE PLACEMENT
SERVICE — or show you how to start an
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Some Men Make More in a Day
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registered pharmacist, switched to Acci-
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Texas, I wasn't about to stick my neck
out when a man pleads guilty."”

Why place a rifle in the doorway sev-
eral minutes before the assassination?
RenfroHays has a theory. *“When the po-
lice came running up and found the rifle
on the sidewalk, this indicated the killer
had already left the area,” he said. “They
did not go up into the rooming house at
that time.  They scattered and started
searching the neighborhood. Then, the
radio broadcasts about the white Mus-
tang drew them further away from the
scene. It was a diversionary tactic. It was
quite some time before they went upstairs
in the rooming house. The planted rifle
also pulled them away from searching the
bushes in the vacant lot behind the room-
ing house.

“There was a newspaper reporter up-
stairs (in the rooming house) interviewing
people before the police arrived,” Hays
declared. “Yet, I've checked with every-
one and I can’t find anyone from the pa-
pers, or radio station, who was upstairs
before the police. If we want to be a little
paranoid, we might consider the reporter
was actually someone in the conspiracy
checking on what the roomers knew.”

Hays also believes the rifle was planted
as another piece of evidence against
James Earl Ray. ‘‘Ray came to Memphis
thinking he was going to sell rifles to
some Cuban exiles,” Hays said. “He had
purchased the rifle in Birmingham, as a
sample gun to show the gun buyers. He
exchanged it for another gun. The prose-
cution claims the first rifle would not fire.

I talked with people at gun factories. Did
you ever hear of a new gun not firing?
Well, they didn't either. They said their
weapons are tested before they leave the
factory.

“Based on facts from my investigation,
and information gained from James Earl
Ray, he was ordered to exchange the gun
in Birmingham so he would be remem-
bered by the store owner,” Hays contin-
ued. ‘A man might forget a customer who
buys a gun and vanishes. He won't forget
a man who buys a gun, exchanges it and
then has to have the scope changed. Ray

was being manipulated. The gun on the
sidewalk drew the police away from the

men who pulled the trigger.”

Besides the gun, Ray's travel bag was
left on the sidewalk. I was suddenly
struck by the thought that each article
left in the bag was a clue to Ray's travels
in the months prior to the assassination.,
He left a transistor radio that he had pur-
chased a couple of days before his escape
from Missouri State Prison. A hammer
and pliers, two very unusual objects in a
travel bag, were purchased on the West
Coast. They led the investigation to that
part of Ray’s life. The binoculars in the
bag linked him to Memphis. The rifle led
to his time in Birmingham.

The travel bag also contained several
large sized T-shirts and a pair of size 28
underwear shorts. James Earl Ray could
possibly wear the T-shirts but he definite-
ly could not wear the shorts. Ray wears a
size 34 shorts. However, laundry marks
on the underwear did lead the FBI to the

i

Los Angeles area. .

Says Renfro Hays, “that rifle and trav-
el bag were planted in the doorway to im-
plicate Ray and, at the same ‘time, lead
the police away from the roominghouse.”

When Ray's abandoned Ford Mustang
was located in Atlanta, Ga., there were
several items of clothing found in the au-
tomobile’s trunk, including: a blue,
short-sleeved shirt, a sweatshirt, a jacket
and a pair of walking shorts. Two bed-
sheets, a pillow and pillow cases were also
found in the trunk. Several items in the
trurk were small-size garments. They
would not have fit James Earl Ray. They
would fit a man of small stature, weighing
about 125 pounds. Also there were many
cigarette butts in the ashtray (though
Ray doesn’t smoke). Furthermore, when
the white Mustang was found in Atlanta,
it had been wiped clean of all finger-
prints.

The only fingerprints belonging to
James Earl Ray found in Memphis were
on the contents of the travel bag or the
rifle. There were absolutely no prints be-
longing to Ray found in the rooming-
house or the bathroom.

The significance of this information
about the fingerprints is enormously im-
portant. For the prosecution is saying
that James Earl Ray was not smart
enough to keep his fingerprints off the
rifle and traveling bag (which Renfro
Hays claims was a plant) but was smart
enough to keep them off the abandoned
Mustang.

As for the bathroom, Inspector Z. A.
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HEAR
WHISPERED

6311 Yucca St., Hollywood 28,

Zachery removed its window sill. He an-
nounced that a “fresh indention’ in the
wood was consistent with marks made by
the rifle. (While I was in Memphis I
walked up the dark stairway to the bath-
room. You do not have to go through the
rooming house lobby; many characters on
skid row use the bathroom quite freely.) I
discovered that the remaining wood
around the window frame is old, painted
hardwood. It was almost impossible to
raise a sliver of wood with a pocket knife.

“1 was getting plenty of information
from the police,’”” Renfro Hays said.
“They dusted the bathroom for finger-
prints. There were several prints on the
window sill. These prints have never been
shown to have any significance by law en-
forcement authorities.”

Several newsmen theorized that the in-
dention mentioned by Inspector Zachery
was made by the rifle kick after it was
fired. However, a rifle will kick upwards
and to the right after firing. It does not
jump downward.

The question of ballistics on the .30-06
rifle left in the doorway and the slug re-
moved from King's body is puzzling. The
police and prosecution claimed the bullet
was fired from the abandoned rifle. How-
ever, in testimony presented at Ray's
trial, these questions were left unans-
wered.

Assistant Attorney-General James C.
Beasley entered little material on ballis-
tics into the record. He stated:

“Mr. Robert A. Frazier, the chief of the
Firearms Identification Unit of the FBI
with 27 years experience would testify to
the firing of this rifle, that has been here
to introduced. He examined the car-
tridges, the hull from the chamber of this
rifle, the slug removed from the body of
Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., and would
testify to the conclusions as. . ."

(At this point, I will paragraph the re-
marks of Asst. Attorney-General Beasley
and add the comments of a respected att-
orney who specializes in criminal law.)

e “The death slug was identical in all
physical characteristics to the five loaded
.30-aught-6 cartridges found in the bagin
front of Canipes,” said Beasley. (Com-
ment: *“They are admitting that one rifle
slug is like another one.”)

e “The cartridge (Editor's Note: This
was found on the bathroom floor of the
roominghouse) had in fact been fired in
this .30-aught-6 rifle.” (Comment: “But
he isn't saying anythmg about ballis-
tics.”’)

e “That the death slug removed from
the body contained land and groove im-
pressions consistent with those present in
the barrel of the rifle.” (Comment: ‘‘Bal-
listics is a precise, positive science. He is
not saying the bullet was fired from the
rifle. The land and groove marks on any
rifle bullet are consistent with those from
any other rifle barrel. They are not a posi-
tive ballistics match. I'd love to have this
on cross-examination.”)

We will leave the courtroom and turn
to Mr. Art Hanes, Ray’s ex-attorney, for
his information on ballistics. Hanes says,
“The .30-06 rifle found in the doorway
was not the rifle used to kill Martin Lu-
ther King and the FBI knows it.”

Mi. Hanes, a former agent for the FBI

is an experienced trial lawyer. He has ex- |
amined the bullet removed from Dr.
King's body. “The slug had enough mark-

ings on it to be traced to the murder |

weapon,’”’ he said. “A kid could have
traced it.”

Hanes reports that Ray and a “‘contact
man'’ took the rifle to Memphis. Ray
thought he was showing the rifle to Cu-
ban exiles who were interested in pur-
chasing or stealing rifles. ““The contact
man abandoned the rifle, which had
Ray’s fingerprints on it, on the street so
that Ray would be the fall guy in the
murder,” Hanes said.

If Ray was the “fall guy!’ in a con-
spiracy, this would mean he was con-
tacted by one or more persons while he
was in Memphis.

RENFRO HAYS INTRODUCES NEW
WITNESS NO. 4

The three men in Ray’s room: “Jack"
is the pseudonym of a well-known skid
row character and member of the Mem-
phis underworld. Renfro Hays and I
found Jack standing beside the fountain
in Court Square in Memphis. He grinned
easily over yellowed teeth and his breath
smelled like warmed over death.

“I've been on a bender for a couple of
weeks,” he drawled. ‘Don’t breathe deep-
ly if you re standing downwind."”

Jack is a friend of Charlie Stephens.
He also knew Commodore Stewart, who
formerly lived in room 5B at the rooming-
house, the room that James Earl Ray
rented.

“0ld Commodore died on March 29th.
I was on another drunk then,” Jack said.
*] was bumming around South Main. I
was pretty looped up one night and, in-
stead of going home, I just walked up-
stairs at 422 % and slept in the Com-
modore’s room. There was a useless little
latch on the door. A baby could open it.
Charlie Stephens knew I .was sleeping
there. 1 stayed one or two nights. The
landlady never knew about it.

“If you've been over there, you know
the room where Commodore lived was on
the side away from the lobby. All T had to

.do was walk upstairs. It was easy to avoid

the landlady,” said Jack.

Jack was still cruising the bars on the
fatal afternoon of April 4th. “I decided to
take a nap in Commodore's room. I
walked up to the roominghouse. I opened
the door and saw three men inside the
room,” he continued. “I figured the land-
lady had rented the room. So I excused
myself and got the hell out of there. I
didn't want any trouble.”

Could he identify the men? Was James
Earl Ray in the room? Jack shrugged. "I
was drinking. It could have been the
President and I wouldn't have recognized
him "

How were they dressed? ‘'Nothing spe-
cial. I slammed that door as soon as I
opened it,”" Jack replied. I saw three
men. I didn't get a very good look.”

S

Why didn’t he go to the authorities af-

ter Dr. King was murdered? *I have a
record as long as your arm. [ was run out
of one state because there was a dis-
agreement over a card game and four men
in a room with me were_perforated with




bullets. I had a hard time convincing the
judge and jury that it was self-defense.”
Would he sign a statement about the
incident? ‘“No. Absolutely not,” Jack
said. “I was planning to go into court
with Art Hanes and Renfro. They con-
vinced me that it was my duty. Now, I'm
not getting messed up. Ray is pulling a
long 99 years in Nashville. He'll stay
there until he walks out into the prison
yard. Then, they’ll carry him-out in a
pine box. That's the word around town.”
After he obtained the story of the three
men in the room from Jack, Renfro Hays
had subsequent conversations with his
informant. He was especially mtrlgued by
a chance remark Jack made one evening.
“Jack asked me one night if I was con-
fused by the empty cartridge found in the
bathroom,” Hays related. *This was, and
still is, one of the most puzzling parts of
the assassination. There was no shell in
the gun when it was found on the street.

. This meant that if he did the shooting,

Ray put only one bullet into the rifle. It
doesn’t make sense for a man with a re-
peating rifle to leave five other shells in
his travel bag.

“With only a single bullet in the gun,
would an assassin stop, eject the empty
cartridge in the bathroom and then
leave?” Hays asked. ‘‘Would you stop and
eject an empty shell if you knew there
wasn’'t another bullet in the gun? Would
an assassin try a hard shot with only one
bullet?"”
~ Jack hinted to the private detective
that he knew who placed the empty shell
in the bathroom. “I could never get the
rest of the story from him,” Hays stated.

“Art Hanes and I know the cartridge was

fired in the rifle. But, the slug taken from
Dr. King's body didn't come from the
rifle. Consistent is not a positive ballistics
test.”

Jack would be a very unreliable witness
in' a courtroom. At this late date, he
might claim “I don’t know nothing’’ and
remain silent on his brief encounter with
the three men he claims to have seen in
Ray's room.

RENFRO HAYS INTRODUCES NEW
WITNESS NO. 5

The man in the bushes: “Buttermilk
Buford” is the pseudonym of a tall, gaunt
old man who roams the back alleys of
Memphis, walking with a pained shufile
as his dark, bird-like eyes glance over the
world. His thin hands probe the garbage
cans for something that can be sold.
Once, he was a star football player for
“ole Miss,” but the cheers of the Satur-
day crowds are a dim memory for a lonely
old man.

He made the following statement to
Renfro Hays on what he saw of the assas-
sination:

‘‘Statement of ‘Buttermilk Buford,’
male, white, age 66, taken on August 25,
1968 in Memphis, Shelby County, Ten-
nessee:

“My name is ‘George Buford’ and I am
also known as ‘Buttermilk Buford'. I live
at 422 % South Main Street, Memphis.
I have not worked for the last three years
because of a stroke.l was living at 422 %
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South Main on April 4, 1968. On that
afternoon I was sitting out on the vacant
lot behind the rooming house with ———
———— and another man who works on
the river. We were sitting there on some

cardboard next to some bushes, watching

the people over at the Lorraine Motel as
there was a lot going on over there.

“Just before 6 o'clock, ——— and the
other fellow left but —— was supposed
to come back. Then, two M. C. (two color-
ed men) standing on the ground at the
Lorraine Motel started calling up asking
for someone ‘to get Dr. King to the door.’
A man, I guess he was Dr. King, came out
the door and came to the rail and started
talking to these men on the ground.

“At the same time I heard someone
walking behind me from the other side of
the bushes. I thought it was ———
—————— coming back and I didn't
even look around. Then, there was a loud
shot from the bushes right beside me. I
looked around and saw this man running
away, north. He was about my size and
. he must have been young because he
moved fast. He had on dark clothes with

a high necked white sweater. He had a-

rifle or shotgun in his hand. When he got
to the northwest corner of the lot, he took
the stock off his gun and threw it in some
bushes and put the barrel under his jack-
et. Then, he stepped down onto the side-
walk.

“Everyone was running to the motel
then and he just walked on away from
there. I got up and walked back up to the
street and up to my room. Later that
night the police came and took us all
down to the station. I told a detective
what I saw and he called me a damned
liar. When they talked to me again I told
them I didn't know anything. I never got
around to telling them where the gun
stock was.

“I have nothing to hide about this. I
never saw that man before or since, that I
know of. If the police had treated me like
a human being I would have told them
everything T knew.

“I have read this statement of one and
two-thirds pages and it is true to the best
of my knowledge.”

Signed /‘'Buttermilk Buford’

Solomon Jones, the chauffeur for Dr.
King, was standing directly below the bal-
cony when the shot struck the Negro
leader. Jones said he saw a man ‘“‘with
something white on his face” creep down
from the thicket of bushes across the
street. Another man who was at the Lor-
raine Motel said that the shot ‘“‘probably
came from the thicket.” He also saw a
man leave the bushes. :

Lance (“Sweet Willie Wine'') Watson,
a leader of the Memphis Invaders, a mili-
tant black power group, informed me that
he knew a taxi driver who also saw a man
leave the bushes and walk away.

I asked for the cab driver's name.

“‘He's frightened,”” Watson replied.
‘““Very frightened. It is not general knowl-
edge but one of the men in Dr. King's par-
ty has been shot at. I am doubtful that
this man would discuss anything about
what he saw. I'll call and ask him.”
Sweet Willie reported later that the cab
driver did not want to discuss the ex-
perience. ' )
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The statement from Buttermilk Buford
and from Solomon Jones, indicates there
was a gunman in the bushes.

Mr. Buford said that the gunman broke
down his gun and threw the stock in some
bushes. A gun stock was later found in a
pile of junk in the vacant lot. This gun
stock is now in a Memphis bank vault. It
was carefully handled and, to date, has
not been dusted for fingerprints. The man
who has the gun stock said he will deliver
this evidence to the “authorities I consid-
er proper and at the right time."”’

The fake radio broadcast: “What are
the two easiest items to trace in this coun-
try?" Renfro Hays asked me during our
investigation. He then answered his own
question. A gun and an automobile.
Ray's gun was very conveniently dropped
at the scene of the assassination. Next,
the police radio was penetrated with fake
reports on a white Mustang. Then, there
is the enigma of the Civilian Band broad-
cast which the police said was a ‘prank’
pulled off by a kid who lived back of the
International Harvester plant.”

Hays refused to believe in coincidence.
“It was extremely coincidental that a kid
would use a white Mustang in a fake
broadcast. It is even more of a coinci-
dence when you consider that the other
car involved was a 1966 blue Pontiac au-
tomobile. One of the top officials in the
police department drove a car like that.

Every policeman in Memphis thought .

their boss was chasing down the killer.
They headed out there as fast as pos-
sible.”

RENFRO HAYS INTRODUCES NEW
WITNESS NO. 6

The fake broadcast was actually made
from a fixed base citizen's band trans-
mitter located at a Memphis business
firm. “My client was in a certain place on
a routine errand,” a Memphis attorney
informed me. '‘Just by accident, he over-
heard a telephone conversation by the
owner of that business. The man said:
‘Kill the sonofabitch tonight and my

brother in New Orleans will pay you off.” .

‘The attorney refused to reveal the
name of his client. He asked that his own
name not be mentioned. “‘Our lives could
be jeopardized if this was publicized,” the
attorney said.

However, Renfro Hays has inter-
rogated the reluctant witness. “He also
overheard the fake CB broadcast from
this same business firm,"”" Renfro said.
“He couldn’'t leave until the broadcast
was completed. He saw two men get into
a Cadillac sedan with Louisiana plates
and drive away. They were the two men
who made the broadcast, he said.”

Other deaths: Lorraine Bailey was the
manager of the Lorraine Motel, where Dr.
King was staying when he was assassi-
nated. Three hours after King's death,
Mrs. Bailey ruptured a blood vessel, he-
morrhaged and died. Walter Bailey, own-
er of the Lorraine Motel, is not satisfied
that her death was an accident.

“She was a strong, healthy woman,”’ he
said. “There is always the possibility that
she saw something she shouldn't have
seen. Maybe she didn't even realize it was

important. There was so much happening
then that we don't know what might
have occurred.” k

Commodore Stewart occupied apart-
ment No. 5, which was the room Ray ren-
ted. Commodore Stewart died on the
same day that James Earl Ray purchased
the rifle in Birmingham, March 29, 1968.

There were two separate entrances into
the roominghouse. James Earl Ray
turned down a room overlooking Main
Street and asked the landlady, Mrs. Bes-
sie Brewer, for a sleeping room. He was
satisfied with the room formerly occupied
by Mr. Stewart.

“The area where Ray's room was lo-
cated is in a part of the building occupied
by permanent guests,”” Renfro Hays ex-
plained. ““There had not been a vacancy
over there in months. Commodore was
old, and he could have died a natural
death. But he died at a very convenient
time."

Renfro T. Hays and I are now in-
vestigating the possible murder of a wom-
an who was linked to the case. Several
people have claimed she was savagely
beaten shortly before her body was found
in a vacant lot beside Young's Cafe in
Memphis. These witnesses claim they can
Jddentify the man who beat up the woman.
We are continuing our investigation.

The red-lettered numbers: "'This was a
well-planned conspiracy and that after-
noon in Memphis was almost like a stage
play. People were moved around and
brought into town to play their roles. Ray
had the role of the patsy, the fall guy. It
was necessary to establish his presence in
Memphis. He was to rent the room be-
cause this would further throw guilt upon
him.” Hays said.

‘‘Someone in Memphis knew that room
number 5 was vacant in the rooming-
house,”” Hays continued. “They told Ray
to follow instructions.”

Ray was given these instructions:

1) He was to drive down South Main
Street from the business section until he
arrived at Jim's Grille.

2) He was to go upstairs and rent a
sleeping room above the restaurant.

3) He was then to come back down-
stairs and enter Jim's Grille. He was to
write the room number in red pencil on
the wall beside the telephone.

“Writing down the room number on
the wall was a safety precaution,” Hays
explained. “If room number five hap-
pened to have been rented, this gave them
a measure of safety. It also allowed the
conspirators to go directly to the room
Ray had rented without having to inquire
at the desk.”

Following these instructions, Ray
drove down South Main Street looking
for Jim’'s Grille. He had barely left the
business district when he spotted a sign
reading "Jim’s Club," a popular tavern in
Memphis. Ray wheeled his Mustang to
the curb and entered Jim's Club, ordered
a beer and asked about renting a room
over the tavern.

“When they told Ray there were no
rooms rented at Jim’s Club, he almost
panicked,” Hays recalled. “He kept in-
sisting someone had told him there was a
room vacant above the club. Finally, one

of the customers in the tavern informed
(Continued on page 80)




(Continued from page 78)
him that he probably was confusing Jim's
Club with Jim's Grille.”

Ray was given directions to the correct
rooming house, a couple of blocks down
the street. “He rented the room above
Jim’'s Grille,” Hays continued. “How-
ever, he did not come downstairs and
write the number on the phone wall at
Jim’s Grille. He drove all the way back to
Jim's Club and wrote the number ‘five’
on the wall by the phone there.”

“Even in making his mistake, he still
went back to the wrong place and put the
red letter number on the wall,” said
Hays. Meanwhile, the assassins were go-
ing in and out of Jim’'s Grille and vainly
searching for the room number supposed
to be written beside the phone.

“Finally, one of them got up the cour-
age, walked upstairs and knocked on
Ray’s room door,” said Hays.

The red-lettered numeral is still on the
wall in Jim’s Club. It is still identifiable,
although it is surrounded by dozens of
black-pencilled phone numbers. “I al-
ways think of this episode when some
writer mentions Ray’s alleged native cun-
ning in being the lone assassin,”” Hays re-
marked. “He couldn't distinguish Jim's
Grille from Jim's Club. Then, when he
did get straightened out, he still ran back
to write the number on the wall at the
wrong place.”

There are even rumors in Memphis to-
day that the authorities were part of the
conspiracy. There was intense pressure to
convict Ray, but it came from powerful

Memphis business interests. Shoppers
have shunned the downtown stores since
the death of Dr. King and the drop in
business volume has been drastic.
Wealthy civic leaders worried privately
about ‘‘a reputation like Dallas” and
breathed grateful sighs of thanks when
Ray pleaded guilty to murder.

Memphis is a fearful city today, tense
with the anxious expectation of sudden
racial violence. In my many weeks in
Memphis, I did not find a single person
who believed Ray acted alone—except for
a few attorneys on the prosecution team.

Despite the many reams of newspaper
copy and magazine articles written on
James Earl Ray, the true story of who
killed Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. has yet
to be written. * THE END




